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Fort Wellington National Historic Park in Prescott, encom­
passes the remains of two forts, both built in the 19th century 
and named after the Duke of Wellington, the most renowned 
British soldier of the time. They stood guard over the interna­
tional border and the commercial transportation which moved 
along it. The first Fort Wellington was built during the War of 
1812. The second, built in 1838-39, was occupied until 1870. 

Brief History 
From the early days of New France the St. Lawrence River 
was the traditional route to the riches of the North American 
interior. In the late 18th century, sovereignty over this water­
way was divided between British North America and the new 
United States of America. 

Soon after the American Revolution, batteaux and Durham 
boats were carrying thousands of tons of goods annually to 
and from the thriving new Loyalist settlements of Upper Can­
ada. The River route was cheaper and faster than the new 
King's highway connecting Montréal and York (Toronto), even 
though the St. Lawrence could not be used in winter and de­
spite delays caused by rapids. At some of the rapids, canals 
had been dug and at others, shipping managed to get through 
the rough water but often, cargoes and passengers had to be 
portaged. 

The sharing of the waterway was sure to be quickly chal­
lenged in the event of war between the United States and 
Britain. Yet, when wardid erupt in 1812, neither side had done 
much to protect its shipping interests. As a result of the war, 
shipping increased and the British quickly organized troops to 
protect both river and land transportation along the route, es­
pecially near canals and rapids. The troops were based at 
several points along the St. Lawrence, including the young 
settlement of Prescott. 

Shipping was particularly vulnerable to attack in the Pres­
cott area, for the town was just up-river from a stretch of dan­
gerous rapids. An American military post lay directly across 
the river at Ogdensburg, New York, where the French had 
earlier built Fort La Présentation. For these reasons the British 
began a small fortification at Prescott. 

The War of 1812 
Most of the fort's construction was directed by Frederic, Baron 
de Gaugreben, Lieutenant of the King's German Engineers, 
and built by a corps of the King's German Legion, a regiment 
serving the British Crown at that time. The fort consisted of a 
wooden blockhouse surrounded by earthern ramparts on 
which were mounted 24-pounder cannons. It was designed 

both to shelter the men who patrolled the border and to com­
mand all navigation in the river opposite. 

The fort was not finished until the end of the war but it was 
nonetheless strongly garrisoned. Besides the King's German 
Legion there were other foreign regiments, which served in 
the King's garrison. For example, in the summer of 1813 over 
200 men of the de Watteville Regiment came to serve at Fort 
Wellington from Spain where they had been fighting under the 
Duke of Wellington against the armies of Napoleon. Mainly of 
East European, Swiss and German origin, these men were 
commanded by the Swiss Major-General, Louis de Watteville. 
For some time the Swiss had been providing the British with 
mercenaries hired from many nations. After the war some of 
these men stayed to settle in Canada. 

Another important regiment serving at Fort Wellington dur­
ing the War of 1812 was the Glengarry Light Infantry Fencibles. 
Some of the men of this regiment had earlier served in the 
Glengarry Fencibles, a regiment conceived by Father Alex­
ander Macdonell to provide employment for highlanders in 
Glengarry, Scotland. It was the first Roman Catholic regiment 
to serve an English King after the Reformation. When the 
regiment was disbanded in 1802 Macdonell and many of the 
men emigrated to Canada, to the Scottish settlement of Glen­
garry County on the St. Lawrence River. In 1812 Father Mac­
donell was asked to help recruit Glengarries to revive the 
regiment in Canada. 

On February 21,1813, Sir George Prévost, British Governor 
of Canada, stopped at the Fort on his way from Québec to 
York by sleigh. During the night he gave command of the Fort 
to Major "Red George" Macdonell of the Glengarries and 
talked with him about the local military situation. Macdonell 
tried to convince the Governor that the American troops at 
Ogdensburg should be removed since they had been harass­
ing Canadian shipping on the river for some time and recently 
had looted the undefended town of Brockville nearby. The 
ever-cautious Prévost, however, wanted to avoid a large-
scale confrontation. 

Macdonell's garrison of about 500 troops included men 
from the King's 8th Regiment, the Newfoundland Fencibles, 
the Glengarries and local militia. No sooner had the Governor 
left the next morning than "Red George" lined up his men on 
the ice and stormed across to take Ogdensburg. It was a fierce 
battle but casualties were not heavy. Macdonell did not oc­
cupy the town but rather burned all the military buildings and 
watercraft, preventing the Americans from re-establishing a 
military post there for the balance of the war. After the attack, 
social and commercial relations between Prescott and Og­

densburg resumed as if no war were in progress. 
Macdonell was decorated for his victory and Prévost wrote 

him that, "although you have rather exceeded my orders, I am 
well pleased with what you have done . . . " The Glengarry 
Fencibles were disbanded in 1816 but some of the men saw 
action again with the Glengarry Militia at Fort Wellington dur­
ing the Rebellions of 1837-38. 

The Rebellions of 1837 - 38 
For years in Upper Canada, the "Family Compact", a small 
exclusive group of appointees with strong executive power, 
had been using its privileged position to promote its own in­
terests through patronage and control of government policy. 
Similarly, in Lower Canada the "Chateau Clique" seemed 
permanently entrenched in its position of political, economic 
and social power. To many, reform of the system through 
normal constitutional channels seemed impossible. Some 
popularly elected members like William Lyon Mackenzie 
thought force was the only alternative but their attempt to 
seize power in 1837 failed. Some escaped to the United States 
where they found many Americans sympathetic to further at­
tempts to "liberate" Canada from British imperialism. Once 
again it was necessary to guard the border against invasion 
from the United States. 

Fort Wellington, now an empty ruin, had to be completely 
rebuilt, and so a second Fort Wellington was constructed by 
local contractors and supervised by the Royal Engineers. A 
new blockhouse was built, this time mainly of stone. It was 
smaller, allowing room inside the earthen ramparts for a guard­
house, officers' quarters, cookhouse and latrines. It was not 
completed until 1839. 

In November 1838 a force of nearly 200 American sympa­
thizers and a handful of Canadian rebels tried to seize Fort 
Wellington which was still under construction. They crossed 
from the United States, entrenched themselves on nearby 
Windmill Point and were immediately challenged by the troops 
of Fort Wellington. They could not be dislodged so reinforce­
ments of regulars from Kingston and militia from the surround­
ing counties were rushed in. It was only after four days and 
many casualties to both sides that the rebels were finally 
taken. 

Later Years 
Fort Wellington was strongly garrisoned for several years after 
the Battle of the Windmill for fear of further trouble. None en­
sued, however, as Lord Durham's investigation of the causes 
of the Rebellions eventually led to political reform. Fort Wel­

lington became a quiet border post garrisoned by the Royal 
Canadian Rifles, a regiment organized from veterans in Can­
ada in 1841 in response to the growing problem of desertion. 

Every year scores of soldiers guarding the Canadian border 
had been fleeing the harsh discipline of British military life and 
deserting to the nearby, prosperous United States. The British 
had not suffered as much desertion with the regiments of 
Swiss, German and other foreign troops they had used earlier 
at border posts, but such troops were no longer as readily 
available. 

To join the Royal Canadian Rifles soldiers had to have at 
least 15 years army service. At this point in their lives they 
thought twice before forfeiting the pension due them after so 
many years service. Married men were given preference in the 
recruiting as they were considered more stable. Desertion les­

sened perceptibly after the Royal Canadian Rifles was or­
ganized. 

The Royal Canadian Rifles served at Fort Wellington from 
1843to 1854. The Fort was empty for a few years but with the 
fear of invasion by the Fenians, an Irish-American society 
violently opposed to British rule, it was reoccupied in the 
1860's. Again the garrison included the "Rifles". By 1870, the 
Fenian threat had dissipated, the Royal Canadian Rifles had 
been disbanded and Fort Wellington closed. During the North­
west Rebellion of 1885 a few troops were stationed briefly at 
the Fort but the next year saw its permanent abandonment by 
the military. 

In 1923 the site was transferred to the former Department of 
Interior. Fort Wellington was declared a National Historic Park 
in 1940 and is now administered by Parks Canada. 

Points of Interest 
Although not very large, Fort Wellington is an excellent ex­
ample of the French style of military engineering which be­
came popular in the 18th century. At that time fortifications of 
stone were no longer able to withstand the heavier artillery 
which armies were carrying, so military engineers substituted 
earth ones, which could easily absorb the impact of cannon-
balls. 

These fortifications were easy to build and maintain, as the 
ramparts were formed from the earth removed in the excava­
tion of the ditch. With the addition of wooden pickets Fort 
Wellington could now defend itself against long-distance 
bombardment as well as against attacking infantry. 

Fort Wellington's first function was defensive-to provide 
secure shelter for the men and stores of its garrison. The gar­
rison was, in turn, expected to defend the international border 
and the land and water transportation which moved along it. 
Fort Wellington also had an offensive capability. The 24 
pounder guns on the southeast and southwest corners al­
lowed the Fort to command all navigation on the river op­
posite. 

The blockhouse was the stronghold of the Fort. The thickly 
vaulted brick ceiling of the first floor provided good protection 
for the gun-powder and artillery equipment stored there. The 
second and third floors were used as a barracks and could 
hold up to 100 soldiers. The area between the third floor ceil­
ing and the roof was filled solid with heavy timbers which, it 
was hoped, would absorb the impact of artillery fire. 

The Officers' Quarters was the most elegantly furnished 
building in the Fort. It was only large enough to accommodate 

two officers or one officer and a servant; the other officers 
rented rooms in the town of Prescott. 

The Guard House was used for a few years to shelter the 
men who guarded the main gate and ramparts of the Fort. 
Later the men preferred to use the Guard Room which was es­
tablished on the first floor of the blockhouse; the old Guard 
House was then allowed to fall into ruins. 

The building which formerly served as a latrine for the Fort 
is now used only as a tool storage. 

The caponnière allowed soldiers safe access to the ditch 
where they could fire on any attackers who had been able to 
get that close to the Fort. Originally a layer of earth covered 
the timbers of the roof to provide extra protection. 

Battle of the Windmill: less than a mile east of Fort Welling­
ton, between Highway §2 and the river, stands the large stone 
windmill which was captured from the Rebels in November 
1838 after a fierce struggle. 
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Ontario Fort Wellington 
Parc historique national 

Troupes cantonnées au fort, 1866, (Archives puDIiques du Canada). 
Troops camped at the fort in 1866. (Public Archives of Canada) 

Le parc historique national du fort Wellington à Prescott com­
prend les vestiges de deux forts construits au 19e siècle et 
nommésen l'honneurdu duc de Wellington, le soldat britan­
nique le plus réputé de l'époque. Ces forts assuraient la sécu­
rité du commerce sur le Saint-Laurent, à ce point de frontière 
avec les États-Unis. Le premier fut construit pendant la guerre 
de 1812 et le second, en 1838 et 1839. Ce dernier fut occupé 
jusqu'en 1870. 

Bref historique 
Depuis les débuts de la Nouvelle-France, le Saint-Laurent a 
toujours été la route vers les richesses de l'intérieur de l'Amé­
rique du Nord. À la fin du 18e siècle, après la Révolution amé­
ricaine, la souveraineté de navigation sur cette voie fut par­
tagée entre l'Amérique du Nord britannique et la jeune nation 
des États-Unis d'Amérique. 

Durant la période postérieure à la Révolution, des "bat-
teaux" et des embarcations Durham transportaient chaque 
année des milliers de tonnes de marchandises à destination 
ou en provenance des nouvelles colonies des Loyalistes du 
Haut-Canada alors en plein essor. Malgré le gel du Saint-
Laurent en hiver et en dépit des retards causés par les rapides, 
les marchands trouvaient moins onéreux et moins lent d'uti­
liser cette voie que d'emprunter la nouvelle route du Roi re­
liant Montréal à York (Toronto). On avait creusé des canaux à 
certains rapides, on se risquait à en franchir d'autres, mais 
souvent, on devait faire des portages. 

Le partage de la voie navigable devait inévitablement être 
l'un des premiers points en litige en cas de guerre entre les 
États-Unis et la Grande-Bretagne. Pourtant, au moment où la 
guerre éclata, en 1812, ni l'un ni l'autre n'avait vraiment cher­
ché à protéger son commerce maritime. La guerre amena un 
accroissement de la navigation. Les Britanniques décidèrent 
alors de poster sans délai des troupes en plusieurs points du 
parcoursdu Saint-Laurent, principalement prèsdes canaux 
et des rapides et notamment dans la jeune colonie de Pres­
cott, afin de protéger le commerce fluvial et riverain. 

Les navires risquaient tout particulièrement d'être attaqués 
dans cette région, car la ville était située juste en amont d'une 
série de rapides dangereux. Un poste militaire américain se 
trouvait exactement de l'autre côté du fleuve, à Ogdensburg 
(New York), à l'endroit même où les Français avaient aupara­
vant édifié le fort La Présentation. Pour ces diverses raisons, 
les Britanniques entreprirent de construire une petite fortifi­
cation à Prescott. 

La guerre de 1812 
La construction du fort, dirigée surtout par Frédéric, baron de 

Gaugreben et lieutenant des King's Royal German Engineers, 
fut exécutée par un corps de la King's German Legion, régi­
ment alors au service delà Couronne britannique. Le fort com­
prenait un blockhaus en bois entouré de remparts de terre sur 
lesquels étaient installés des canons de 24. Il servait d'abri 
pour les hommes, patrouillant le long de la frontière et leur 
permettait de surveiller toute la navigation fluviale, en face. 

Le fort ne fut terminé qu'à la fin de la guerre, mais une forte 
garnison y était quand même postée. Outre la King's German 
Legion, il y eut au fort d'autres régiments étrangers qui ser­
vaient dans la garnison du Roi. Ainsi, à l'été de 1813, pi us de 
200 hommes du régiment de Watteville furent dépêchés au fort 
après avoir servi en Espagne, où, sous les ordres du duc de 
Wellington, ils avaient combattu l'armée de Napoléon. Ces 
hommes, pour la plupart originaires d'Europe de l'Est, de Suisse 
et d'Allemagne, étaient commandés par le major-général 
suisse Louis de Watteville. En effet, pendant un certain 
temps, la Suisse se chargea de fournir à la Grande-Bretagne 
des mercenaires qu'elle recrutait auprès de bon nombre de 
nations. À la fin de la guerre, certains de ces hommes déci­
dèrent de s'installer au Canada. 

Le régiment des Glengarry Light Infantry Fencibles fut un 
autre régiment d'importance à servir au fort Wellington pen­
dant la guerre de 1812. Quelques-uns de ces soldats avaient 
auparavant servi dans les Glengarry Fencibles, régiment origi­
nalement créé par le Père Alexander Macdonell afin d'assu­
rer des emplois aux montagnards de Glengarry, en Ecosse. Ce 
fut le premier régiment catholique à servir le roi d'Angleterre 
après la Réforme. Il fut supprimé en 1802. Macdonell et nom­
bre de ses compagnons émigrèrent alors au Canada et fon­
dèrent une colonie dans le comté de Glengarry, situé sur le 
fleuve Saint-Laurent. En 1812, on demanda au Père Macdonell 

d'essayer de reformer son régiment au Canada. 
Dans la soirée du 21 février 1813, sir George Prévost, gou­

verneur britannique du Canada, s'arrêta au fort. Parti de Qué­
bec, il se rendait à York en traîneau. Au cours de la nuit, il con­
fia le commandement du fort au major "Red George" Mac­
donell, du régiment des Glengarries, et il conféra avec lui de 
la situation militaire à l'échelon local. Macdonell essaya de 
convaincre le gouverneur qu'il était nécessaire de déloger les 
troupes américaines postées à Ogdensburg car celles-ci 
gênaient depuis quelque temps la navigation canadienne sur 
le fleuve et, dans la région, avaient même récemment pillé 
Brockville, alors sans défense. Toujours prudent, Prévost 
voulait cependant éviter un affrontement majeur. 

La garnison de Macdonell, d'environ 500 soldats, comprenait 
des membres du 8e Régiment du Roi, des Newfoundland Fenci­
bles, des Glengarries et de la milice locale. Le lendemain ma­
tin, le gouverneur à peine parti, "Red George" aligna ses 
hommes sur la glace et se ruade l'autre côté pour tenter de 
s'emparer d'Ogdensburg. La bataille fut dure mais les pertes, 
légères. Macdonell n'occupa pas la ville, incendiant plutôt 
toutes les installations militaires et les bateaux qui s'y trou­
vaient. Il empêcha ainsi les Américains d'y réinstaller un poste 
militaire pendant le reste de la guerre. Cette attaque ne trou­
bla cependant en rien les relations sociales et commerciales 
entre Prescott et Ogdensburg. 

On décora Macdonell pour sa victoire. Dans une lettre qu'il 
lui adressa, Prévost lui disait qu'il était heureux des résultats 
qu'il avait obtenus, même s'il avait outrepassé ses ordres. Le 
régiment des Glengarry Fencibles fut supprimé en 1816, mais 
quelques-uns de ses membres continuèrent à combattre dans 
la milice de Glengarry, au fort Wellington, pendant les ré-
bellionsde 1837-1838. 

Les rébellions de 1837 -1838. 
En 1837, le fort Wellington, en ruine et vide, dut être complète­
ment reconstruit. Ce second fort, construit par des entrepre­
neurs locaux sous la surveillance du Corps royal du génie, 
avait pour but de protéger la frontière des invasions améri­
caines. Il comprenait, à l'intérieur des remparts de terre, un 
nouveau blockhaus, plus petit que le précédent mais cons­
truit cette fois de pierre, un corps de garde, un logement pour 
les officiers, une cuisine et des latrines. Il ne fut terminé qu'en 
1839. 

Pendant ce temps au Haut-Canada, le "Family Compact", 
une oligarchie de personnes nommées à des charges et pos­
sédant un fort pouvoir exécutif, profitait de sa situation privi­
légiée pour servir ses propres intérêts en recourant au favori­
tisme et en ayant la main haute sur la politique gouvernemen­

tale. De même au Bas-Canada, la "clique du Château" sem­
blait investie en permanence des pouvoirs politique, écono­
mique et social. Pour nombre de citoyens, il semblait impossi­
ble de réformer le système par les moyens constitutionnels 
prévus. Certains représentants élus par le peuple, tel William 
Lyon Mackenzie, croyaient que la seule solution était le re­
cours à la force. Toutefois, leur tentative de s'emparer du pou­
voir, en 1837, échoua. Certains insurgés s'enfuirent aux États-
Unis où ils trouvèrent de nombreux Américains qui les encou­
ragèrent à essayer à nouveau de "libérer" le Canada de 
l'impérialisme britannique. 

En novembre 1838, un groupe composé de près de 200 sym­
pathisants américains et d'une poignée de rebelles canadiens 
essaya de s'emparer du fort Wellington, dont la construction 
n'était pas encore terminée. Partis des États-Unis, les assail­
lants traversèrent le fleuve et se retranchèrent à la pointe 
Windmill, près du fort, où ils furent immédiatement attaqués 
par les troupes du fort Wellington. Comme ils ne purent être 
délogés, des renforts de réguliers venant de Kingston et des 
troupes supplétives des comtés environnants furent dépéchés 
en vitesse sur les lieux. Ce n'est qu'après quatre jours de 
combat et de nombreuses pertes dans les deux camps que 
les rebelles se rendirent. 

Période ultérieure 
Après la bataille du Moulin à vent, une forte garnison demeura 
au fort plusieurs années, car on craignait de nouvelles atta­
ques. Ce ne fut cependant pas le cas. L'enquête de lord Dur­
ham sur les causes des rébellions devait toutefois amener une 
réforme politique. Le fort Wellington devint un poste frontière 
tranquille, défendu par les Royal Canadian Rifles, régiment 
formé en 1841 d'anciens combattants canadiens pour remé­
dier au problème de plus en plus grave de la désertion. 

En effet, chaque année, un grand nombre de soldats postés 
à la frontière canadienne délaissaient la rude discipline de la 
vie militaire britannique et s'enfuyaient aux États-Unis, ce 
pays proche et prospère. Les Britanniques n'avaient pas con­
nu autant de désertions avec les régiments de Suisses, d'Alle­
mands et d'autres étrangers qui avaient servi aux postes 
frontières mais il était de plus en plus difficile d'obtenir de tels 
régiments. 

Pour entrer dans les Royal Canadian Rifles, il fallait avoir 
fait au moins 15 ans de servi ce militaire. Après cette période, 
les soldats n'étaient généralement pas beaucoup tentés de 
perdre la pension à laquelle ils avaient droit. On recrutait sur­
tout des hommes mariés, car on estimait qu'ils étaient plus 
stables. La formation de ce régiment amena une baisse sensi­
ble du nombre des désertions. 

Ce régiment fut posté au fort Wellington de 1843à 1854. Vide 
pendant plusieurs années, le fort fut cependant réoccupé 
dans les années 1869 par une garnison englobant encore des 
Rifles. On craignait alors une invasion des Féniens, groupe 
irlando-américain violemment opposé à ladomination bri­
tannique. Toutefois, en 1870, la menace fénienne disparue, le 
fort Wellington fut fermé et le régiment des Royal Canadian 
Rifles, supprimé. Au cours de la Rébellion du Nord-Ouest, en 
1885, quelques troupes furent postées au fort pendant une 
courte période mais, à partir de l'année suivante, celui-ci ne 
servit plus à des fins militaires. 

En 1923, le fort passa sous la jurisdiction de l'ancien minis-
tèrede l'Intérieur. Déclaré parc historique national en 1940, il 
relève actuellement de Parcs Canada. 

Points d'intérêt 
Les fortifications- Même s'il est de dimensions plutôt rédui­
tes, le fort Wellington constitue un excellent exemple du gé­
nie militaire de style français en vogue au 18e siècle. À cette 
époque, les fortifications de pierre pouvaient être facilement 
démolies par l'artillerie lourde alors en usage dans les armées, 
de sorte que les ingénieurs militaires commencèrent à les 
construire en terre, les rendant ainsi plus résistantes aux bou-
letsde canon. De plus, ces remparts étaient faciles à cons­
truire et à entretenir, étant faits de la terre enlevée pour le 
creusement du fossé. Ainsi, en ajoutant des pieux de bois à 
un tel ouvrage de terre, le fort pouvait résister aux bombarde­
ments à distance et aux attaques de l'infanterie. Le fort avait 
un rôle avant tout défensif et était un abri sûr pour les hommes 
et les provisions de la garnison. Quanta celle-ci, elle devait 
défendre la frontière et surveiller le transport par terre et par 
eau qui s'y faisait. D'autre part, les canons de 24 placés aux 
angles sud-est et sud-ouest assuraient au fort une certaine 
capacité offensive et protégeaient toute la navigation sur le 
fleuve. 

Le blockhaus - Le blockhaus était l'ouvrage le plus résis­
tant du fort. L'épais plafond de son premier étage, de brique 
et en forme de voûte, assurait la protection delà poudre à 
canon et des pièces d'artillerie qui se trouvaient dans ce local 
Les deuxième et troisième étages servaient de caserne et 
pouvaient loger jusqu'à 100 soldats. L'espace entre le troi­
sième étage et le toit était rempli de grosses pièces de bois 
capables, espérait-on, de résister aux tirs d'artillerie. 

Le logement des officiers - C'était le bâtiment le mieux 
meublé du fort. Il ne pouvait recevoir que deux officiers ou un 
officier et son valet. Les autres officiers étaient pension­
naires dans la ville de Prescott. 

Le corps de garde - Le corps de garde servit d'abri pendant 

quelques années aux soldats qui gardaient la porte principale 
et les remparts du fort. Par la suite, les soldats préférèrent uti­
liser le local qui fut aménagé au rez-de-chaussée du block­
haus et le corps de garde fut abandonné. L'ancien bâtiment 
des latrines, pour sa part, ne sert plus maintenant qu'au range­
ment des outils. 

La caponnière - La caponnière assurait aux soldats un 
accès sûr au fossé d'où ils pouvaient tirer sur les assaillants 
qui avaient réussi à s'approcher du fort. Une couche de terre 
recouvrait les pièces de bois du toit afin d'assurer une protec­
tion supplémentaire. 

La bataille du Moulin à vent - À moins d'un mille à l'est du 
fort Wellington, entre la route 2 et le fleuve, on peut voir le gros 
moulin à vent, construit en pierre, qui fut arraché aux enva­
hisseurs, lors de ladure bataille de novembre 1838. 
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